1980

# Dan Siegel v. Salt Lake County Cottonwood Sanitary District : Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Defendant-Respondent Sewer District ("District") installed a sewer line across land owned by Plaintiff-Appellant ("Siegel") while negotiations with Siegel for an easement were in progress but without first obtaining an easement or an order of occupancy and without notice to Siegel.

Siegel commenced this action to compel the District to remove its line and for trespass damages. The proceedings was converted to a condemnation action by the District's Answer. The case proceeded to trial on the issues of just compensation and damages only.

DISPOSITION BELOW

After non-jury trial, the Court decreed that the District had acquired an easement by condemnation in a strip of land ten (10) feet on each side of the sewer's center line, awarded Siegel no damages for trespass, and awarded Siegel compensation for the take using a formula which Siegel contends to violate

Utah's eminent domain statutes.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Events Before Filing of Complaint.

During a period of about four days beginning on November 19, 1976, the District installed a sewer line across an approximately 17-acre parcel of Siegel's land (the "Tract") located near 10th East and 70th South in Salt Lake County (R-106, Testimony of Roscoe Godfrey, the District's manager). The Tract and approximate route of the sewer line are delineated on Exhibit P-1. The District had not, at the time of sewer installation, obtained a grant of easement from Siegel, and it had not obtained or even made application for an order of occupancy (R-107, Godfrey testimony).

Not only did the District enter the Tract without notice to Siegel, its manager failed to mention the entry during a telephone conversation with Siegel on the day it occurred. On that very day, Godfrey had a telephone conversation with Siegel during which the terms of a possible easement were discussed (R-144, Godfrey testimony). During his testimony at trial, Godfrey was asked to recall all that was said in that conversation. He was certainly then aware of Siegel's complaint that the District's entry was surreptitious. According to his testimony, he did not tell Siegel during the November 19 conversation that, while they were conversing, the District was already occupying the Tract and laying the sewer line across it. The record reveals no notice to Siegel, written or oral. Siegel learned of the

installation months later from a resident of the Tract's neighborhood (R-38,39; 97,98). He then wrote the District and asked for confirmation (Exhibit P-5).

The District has claimed some kind of oral permission to make the sewer installation across the Tract. Obviously, an oral permission would not justify the District's occupation, and the District was aware that it would not (R-20). Without regard to statute of fraud issues, however, it is clear from the evidence that the District had not, when it laid the sewer through the Tract, satisfied the conditions upon which Siegel had expressed willingness to continue negotiations. By the District's own admission, Siegel insisted that the District at least execute a written commitment to relocate the line if the freeway off-ramp (projected for construction through the Tract) was located along a different route (R-144). Godfrey at some time prepared such a commitment (Exhibit P-6) but it was never executed, and it was never mailed, delivered or even shown to Siegel until months after the installation was complete (R-99, Siegel's testimony; R-144, Godfrey's testimony) and Siegel began to complain.

Siegel testified that he imposed at least two conditions as prerequisites to his granting an easement, and neither condition was ever met (R-96, 97). He was astonished and incensed that the District had made the installation without authority.

There is little question about the District's motivation for taking a totalitarian attitude when Siegel was reluctant to grant an easement. It had entered into a contract with Hermes Associates (Exhibit P-8) under which it promised, for a \$10,000.00 consideration, to "endeavor to have (the line) completed" to serve a Hermes shopping center "on or before August 1, 1976". The District was already three-and-a-half months behind that schedule when it entered the Tract. Whatever its motivation, the District entered and occupied Siegel's land without right and without notice to Siegel.

B. Procedural Facts.

Despite Siegel's expression of concern about the District's tortious entry upon his property, the District failed to make any attempt to institute eminent domain proceedings. On August 22, 1977, Siegel filed his Complaint (R-2) seeking ejectment and damages. On November 9, 1977, almost three months later, the District filed the first pleading of any kind in which a right of eminent domain was asserted (R, 6-12). That pleading, by center line description, described the easement sought to be condemned.

On December 30, 1977 Siegel filed his Reply in which he denied the District's power to condemn the easement, alleged that the line location sought to be condemned was not compatible with the greatest public good and the least private injury, and denied that the easement was needed, in the statutory

context, by the District. At no time did Siegel claim right to compensation for severance.

On February 23, 1978, Siegel entered into an option agreement with Prowswood, Inc. contemplating the sale of the Tract but reserving all rights in his cause of action against the District if the sale was consummated (Exhibit P-2). On April 24, 1978, Siegel entered his consent to the taking of the easement subject to a determination of just compensation (R-47). On June 5, 1978, Prowswood's option having been exercised, Siegel conveyed the Tract to Prowswood (Exhibit D-3).

On June 4, 1980, after trial on April 2, Judge Sawaya entered his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment (R, 69-72). He ruled (1) that Siegel was entitled to no damages for the District's tortious entry upon and occupation of his land, (2) that the District had acquired by condemnation an easement in .33 acres of the Tract, (3) that the value of the .33 acres was \$16,666.00 at the time of the take, (4) that the rights taken represented one-half the value of the .33 acres, (5) that the sewer installation had imparted a \$4,000.00 value to the portions of the Tract not subjected to the easement, and (6) that Siegel was entitled to receive from the District, as just compensation for the take, one-half of \$16,666.00, or \$8,333.00, less the \$4,000.00 enhancement. The judgment provided for no interest on the total award of \$4,333.00.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Siegel asks this Court to remand the case to the District Court and direct that the Judgment be amended (1) to award \$8,333.00 as just compensation for the take for the reason that the offset for enhancement is inconsistent with the applicable statutes, (2) to award Siegel interest on the amount of the award from November 19, 1976, at 8% per annum, and (3) to award at least nominal damages for trespass.

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY REDUCED THE CONDEMNATION AWARD BY THE AMOUNT OF BENEFIT TO SIEGEL'S REMAINING PROPERTY ATTRIBUTED BY THE COURT TO THE PRESENCE OF THE SEWER.

Judge Sawaya's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law leave no question about the formula by which he calculated the award. He found the value of the .33 acre strip subjected to the easement to be \$16,666.00. He found the easement to constitute one-half the value of the strip. He consequently found just compensation for the take to be \$8,333.00. There is evidence in the record to support those findings, and Siegel cannot take effective exception to them.

When the trial court granted the District an offset for enhancement to Siegel's remaining property attributed to the presence of the sewer, the Court acted without statutory authority and in disregard of explicit statutory direction.

The statute which specifically addresses the assessment

of compensation in eminent domain cases is:

78-34-10.\* Compensation and damages--How assessed. The court, jury or referee must hear such legal evidence as may be offered by any of the parties to the proceedings, and thereupon must ascertain and assess:

(1) the value of the property sought to be condemned and all improvements thereon appertaining to the realty, and of each and every separate estate or interest therein; and if it consists of different parcels, the value of each parcel and of each estate or interest therein shall be separately assessed.

(2) If the property sought to be condemned constitutes only a part of a larger parcel, the damages which will accrue to the portion not sought to be condemned by reason of its severance from the portion sought to be condemned and the construction of the improvement in the manner proposed by the plaintiff.

(3) If the property, though no part thereof is taken, will be damaged by the construction of the proposed improvement, the amount of such damages.

(4) Separately, how much the portion not sought to be condemned, and each estate or interest therein, will be benefited, if at all, by the construction of the improvement proposed by the plaintiff. If the benefit shall be equal to the damages assessed under subdivision (2) of this section, the owner of the parcel shall be allowed no compensation except the value of the portion taken; but if the benefit shall be less than the damages so assessed, the former shall be deducted from the latter, and the remainder shall be the only damages allowed in addition to the value of the portion taken.

(5) As far as practicable compensation must be assessed for each source of damages separately.

Two separate elements of compensation are provided for: 1) compensation for the value of the property taken, and 2) additional

---

\*All statutory references are to Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

"severance damages" where the property taken constitutes a portion of a larger parcel owned by the condemnee. Under no circumstances may a condemnee be awarded less than the value of the property actually taken. Benefit to remaining land of the condemnee becomes significant only if severance damage is claimed. In that event, the enhancement value is deducted from the severance damage. Even if the benefit determined under subparagraph (4) is greater than the severance damage determined under subparagraph (2), however, the owner must still be awarded the "value of the portion taken".

The statutory language leaves no room for conflicting views as to the legislative intent on this issue. Even if there were some ambiguity in the statute, there is none in this Court's pronouncements on the subject. The issue was last raised in Automotive Products Corp. v. Provo City, 502 P.2d 568, 28 Ut.2d 358 (1972). In that case, Provo City constructed a street upon Automotive Products' land without condemnation relying on a right by implied dedication. The trial court found there had been no such dedication, and the city paid a stipulated value for the rights taken.\* The city moved to reopen and adduce enhancement evidence. In a unanimous opinion, this Court stated:

Inasmuch as no severance damages were awarded by the court, any benefits to the remaining property would have no application. The rule that benefits can only be offset against severance damages is set forth in 78-34-10(2), (4), UCA, 1953.

---

\*In Automotive Products, as in the case at bar, the rights taken were a mere easement, not a fee. The applicable statute is 78-34-2, UCA, 1953.

The doctrine of Automotive Products reflects the majority if not the universal judicial view (see City of Baldwin Park v. Stockus, 503 P.2d 1033, 105 Cal.Rptr. 325, 1972).

Point II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD INTEREST FROM NOVEMBER 19, 1976, THE DATE THE DISTRICT TOOK ACTUAL POSSESSION OF THE PROPERTY.

The Judgment makes no provision at all for interest, and Siegel would be entitled to collect interest on the judgment only from the date of its entry. Utah's eminent domain statutes are specific about a condemnee's right to interest from the date of actual taking of possession by the condemnor or the order of occupancy, whichever is earlier. The relevant section is 78-34-9, which reads in pertinent part, as follows:

...The rights of just compensation for the land so taken or damaged shall vest in the parties entitled thereto, and said compensation shall be ascertained and awarded as provided in section 78-34-10 and established by judgment therein, and the said judgment shall include, as part of the just compensation awarded, interest at the rate of 8% per annum on the amount finally awarded as the value of the property and damages, from the date of taking actual possession thereof by the plaintiff or order of occupancy, whichever is earlier,...

The statute further provides that interest shall not be allowed on so much of the award as shall have been paid into court. The District paid nothing to the Court before the Judgment was entered. In fact, the District made no appraisal of the property sought to be condemned, no deposit of money with the Court, and no effort to satisfy the

obligations imposed on condemning agencies by the section.

There is absolutely no conflict in the evidence about the date of original entry and occupancy by the District. The evidence came entirely from the District because Siegel was not given notice and was not aware of the installation until months after its completion. The date was November 19, 1976, and it is from that date that Siegel is entitled to interest on the award.

### Point III

#### AN AWARD OF DAMAGES FOR WRONGFUL ENTRY AND OCCUPATION IS APPROPRIATE

Without question, the District's entry upon the Tract was unauthorized and tortious. A political entity presumably acts for the public good and without malice. In this case, however, the District displayed an arrogance and general disregard of private property rights which call for some official rebuke.

If agencies with power of condemnation are encouraged to ignore the eminent domain statutes and are assured they will suffer no disadvantage if they take private property without notice or ceremony, serious erosion of freedoms must result. Punitive damages are not awarded against political subdivisions, but it is entirely appropriate for the courts to award damages for trespass.