1981

Dan Siegel v. Salt Lake County Cottonwood Sanitary District : Brief of Defendant-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

5 The Appellant fairly states the Nature of this case,
and such statement is accepted.

DISPOSITION OF THE TRIAL COURT

The trial court determined that the "character" of this case is "condemnation," and the date of taking possession as November 8, 1977; that just compensation consisted of the value of the strip of land taken, or \$8,333.00, less the benefit to the land not taken, i.e., the sewer facility, or \$4,000.00, leaving a balance of "just compensation" of \$4,333.00.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant's statement of facts substantially are accepted and accurate, absent those implying bad faith or assertion of concealment of the respondent Sanitary District's methods in construction of the sewer, and also aside from the fact they have been selected somewhat out of context and generally

in favor of the Appellant only. A casual examination of the transcript, however, will reflect the good faith efforts of the District to negotiate amicable terms for purchase of the easement sought, without resort to formal condemnation.

However, the Appellant accepted the findings of the trial court, without objection, so that insufficiency of the evidence is no issue in this appeal. Only the "method" of calculating damages and interest are urged on appeal, as evidenced by Appellant's three designated Points on Appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Affirmance of the lower court's judgment in toto.

ARGUMENT

As a preliminary matter, it appears that the Appellant has no standing to present his arguments to this Court, and that his appeal should be dismissed for that reason, because at no time did he present any of his Points on Appeal to the trial court, but does present them to the Supreme Court for the first time on this appeal.

The trial court, on April 1, 1980, subscribed to a minute entry at the close of the trial, taking the case under advisement (Tr. 68), and another on April 8, 1980, which found an amount of \$4,333.00 as damages in favor of Siegel, after deducting from the \$8,333.00 value of his property, the enhanced value of his remaining or severed property, as a result of the installation of the sewer facility by the

Sanitary District, in the amount of \$4,000.00

As a result of the minute entries above, Mr. Allen, Appellant's counsel, prepared and presented Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment dated two months later on June 4, 1980, (Tr. 69-72), which paraphrased and included the last minute entry's substance as follows:

3. On the state of the pleadings on the date of trial, the issues were reduced to (1) determination of just compensation for the taking of the easement, Plaintiff having then consented thereto, and (2) determination of Plaintiff's damages, if any, for Defendant's wrongful entry upon the Tract and occupation without right before asserting right of eminent domain.

4. The value of the .33 acres taken by Defendant in the exercise of its power of eminent domain was \$16,666.00.

5. The value of the rights in the said .33 acres remaining in Plaintiff after the same were subjected to Defendant's easement constituted 50% of the total value of the said acreage.

6. The installation of the sewer across the Tract imparted a value of \$4,000.00 to the portions of the Tract which were not subjected to the easement.

The findings were followed by a judgment that "Defendant is to pay Plaintiff, as just compensation for the taking of the easement and right of way, the sum of \$4,333.00."

Between the Minute Entry and the Judgment, the

Appellant filed no objection whatever to the Minute Entry, nor was any request or motion filed for the purpose of amending it to give the trial court an opportunity to do exactly what the Appellant claims for the first time on appeal, what the court should have done.

After the Findings and Judgment were entered, the Appellant did not file a motion for a new trial, nor any objections to either before he filed his Motion of Appeal about a month later, on July 3, 1980.

The Utah decisions are numerous and dispositive in saying that matters such as urged by Appellants here, are not reviewable for the first time by the Supreme Court, if they were not presented to the trial court for, at least, the purpose of correcting any error the Appellant and Plaintiff now claims the trial court should have corrected without anyone asking him to do so.

One of the most recent of the many Utah cases enunciating the procedural rule above is Battistone v. American hand, 607 P.2d 837 (Utah), 1980, which says:

"These issues (reformation and mistake) were not raised below and plaintiff cannot be heard to raise them for the first time on appeal," citing Hanover v. Fields, 568 P.2d 751 (Utah 1977).

Another Utah case, Hamilton v. S. L. County Imp. Dist., 15 U.2d 216, 390 P.2d 235 (1964), says:

"We need not canvass matters raised for the first time on appeal," citing No. Salt Lake v. St. Joseph Water Co., 148 U.2d 600, 223 P.2d 577 (1950).

Another case repeats the rule in the following language:

The contention relating to strict liability is an attempt to inject that doctrine into this case for the first time on appeal. It was dealt with neither in the plaintiff's complaint, nor in the pretrial conference, nor at the trial. It is therefore not appropriate to address such a contention to this court. Orderly procedure, whose proper purpose is the final settlement of controversies, requires that a party must present his entire case and his theory or theories of recovery to the trial court; and having done so, he cannot thereafter change to some different theory and thus attempt to keep in motion a merry-go-round of litigation.

Under the authorities above, the Supreme Court is warranted fully in either a dismissal of this appeal, or an affirmance.

In addition to the above, counsel for Respondent contends that the Points raised by Appellant are without merit, and respectfully answers them seriatim as follows:

I. The trial court correctly considered the enhanced value of Siegel's remaining property in calculating the judgment amount.

Appellant relies on Sec. 78-34-10, (2) and (4) to claim error in the Court's deduction of \$4,000.00 from the conceded value of the land retained or severed from that taken.

The statute reads as follows:

78-34-10. Compensation and damages--How assessed.--The court, jury or referee must

hear such legal evidence as may be offered by any of the parties to the proceedings, and thereupon must ascertain and assess:

(1) The value of the property sought to be condemned and all improvements thereon appertaining to the realty, and of each and every separate estate or interest therein; and if it consists of different parcels, the value of each parcel and of each estate or interest therein shall be separately assessed.

(2) If the property sought to be condemned constitutes only a part of a larger parcel, the damages which will accrue to the portion not sought to be condemned by reason of its severance from the portion sought to be condemned and the construction of the improvement in the manner proposed by the plaintiff.

(3) If the property, though no part thereof is taken, will be damaged by the construction of the proposed improvement, the amount of such damages.

(4) Separately, how much the portion not sought to be condemned, and each estate or interest therein, will be benefited, if at all, by the construction of the improvement proposed by the plaintiff. If the benefit shall be equal to the damages assessed under subdivision (2) of this section, the owner of the parcel shall be allowed no compensation except the value of the portion taken; but if the benefit shall be less than the damages so assessed, the former shall be deducted from the latter, and the remainder shall be the only damages allowed in addition to the value of the portion taken.

(5) As far as practicable compensation must be assessed for each source of damages separately.

Those sections are not controlling in this case since the Appellant consented and agreed to plenary authority in the trial court to determine, "just compensation for the taking of the easement," without mentioning any statutory formula. Since the Court found there were no damages based on Plaintiff's complaint of trespass and prayer for damages--the basis of

of Plaintiff's claim--the Court proceeded under the stipulated authority to assess damages. The Court found actual damages by deducting from the value of the land taken, the enhanced value of the adjacent land, by way of increased equity, which would have then had a market value of \$16,333.00 plus \$4,000.00, or \$20,333.00, representing an actual windfall to the Appellant of \$4,000.00 in the market value asset.

The \$4,333.00 judgment, therefore, plus the \$4,000.00 gain to Appellant, represented the actual value of land taken, namely \$8,333.00.

Sub-sections (2) and (4) show that in order to invoke them as a formula to assess damages, a condition precedent is an award for damages to the remaining property. The lower court held here that there was no damage to such property from which a possible "benefit" could be deducted, consequently, the court apparently being fully aware of the inapplicability of the statutory formula, and having been authorized to do so, applied the established market value principle.

The case cited by Appellant upon which he relies, Automotive v. Provo, 28 U.2d 358, 502 P.2d 568 (Ut. 1972) appears inapplicable under the particular facts of this case.

The Appellant, at no time before Notice of Appeal, complained about or objected to the manner in which the \$4,000.00 was to be applied in the process of arriving at the "net" and "actual" damage that Appellant claimed he suffered. This, together with the fact that Appellant did not raise the point

before his Notice of Appeal, fully warrants a conclusion that his Point I is without merit.

II. The Court did not err in failing to award interest.

The Appellant in his complaint alleged that the Respondent installed a sewer in the role of "trespasser," with resultant damage, praying for restitution of the property to its status quo, together with "such damages as the Court shall determine will adequately compensate Plaintiff for the damage to the tract."

This complaint was never amended. No prayer for "accrued interest" under any statute, condemnation or otherwise was prayed for, and the case progressed throughout on the same basis. The question of interest was never raised by anyone, and no one excepted or objected to any failure of the Court to award interest, before, during or after trial and before Notice of Appeal.

The arguments presented above as preliminary to answering the three Points on Appeal are as cogent, or moreso to Appellant's Point II, as they were to this case generally, and the citations there are equally germane to this Point II, and the Supreme Court equally is as warranted in refusing to review this Point, or affirming the trial court as before.

III. An award of damages for wrongful entry and occupation may or may not be awardable, but at best could be but nominal.

The above statement is debatable only if the Supreme

Court deigns to review it, which Respondent urges should not be done for the reasons stated above and the authorities cited having to do with refusal to hear issues not raised in the lower court. The trial court found no damages and the Appellant did not ask the court to reconsider, reassess or amend its judgment, and consequently, the Appellant's Point III is without merit.

CONCLUSION

The case should be dismissed, failing which, the judgement affirmed.